PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD/LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY MINUTES

The Brevard County Planning & Zoning Board met in regular session on **Monday, June 10, 2024,** at **3:00 p.m.**, in the Florida Room, Building C, Brevard County Government Center, 2725 Judge Fran Jamieson Way, Viera, Florida.

The meeting was called to order at 3:00 p.m.

Board members present were: Henry Minneboo (D1); Ron Bartcher (D1); Robert Sullivan (D2); Brian Hodgers (D2); Ben Glover (D3); Mark Wadsworth, Chair (D4); Debbie Thomas (D4); Bruce Moia (D5); Robert Brothers (D5); and John Hopengarten (BPS).

Staff members present were: Tad Calkins, Planning and Development Director; Jeffrey Ball, Planning and Zoning Manager; Alex Esseesse, Deputy County Attorney; Trina Gilliam, Senior Planner; and Kristen Champion, Special Projects Coordinator.

Excerpt of complete agenda.

Frank Mastroianni (Jake Wise) requests a change of zoning classification from BU-1 (General Retail Commercial) and RU-2-10 (6) (Medium Density Multi-Family Residential) to PUD (Planned Unit Development). The property is 14.8 acres, located on the east side of US Hwy 1, approx. 2.1 miles north of Suntree Blvd. (5955 S. Hwy 1, Rockledge) (23PUD00001) (Tax Account 2600118) (District 2)

Mark Wadsworth asked the members of the audience if they were able to select three people to speak on their behalf. They responded that it may be more than three if those three don't cover everything they'd like to discuss.

Mark Wadsworth asked if 15 minutes per person would be sufficient, and they responded that they may only need a few minutes per person.

Trina Gilliam read the application into the record.

Chris Burtner, Mill Creek Residential MCRT Investments, LLC, 1650 North Mills Ave., Orlando. Stated that he is a real estate developer, and he works with a company called Mill Creek Residential, which is a national apartment development company that focuses and specializes in building luxury market rate apartment communities in the best locations and best submarkets. While you just heard that I live in Orlando, I'm actually from Viera and grew up here. My parents live here, which is why this project is so important and special to me.

Our proposed business plan includes a 252-home luxury market rate apartment rental community that seeks to maximize the value of the waterfront along the Indian River that our property benefits from, and what we think provides a great amenity for our potential, future renters, their guests and their families.

You're going to hear from several members of our consultant team, including Jake Wise, Landon Shear, and Susan Hall, but generally speaking we are requesting a rezoning to PUD for the property. Which will bring the property consistent with what's allowed under the comprehensive plan, and more particularly, remove a six-unit per acre density cap that was put in place in the 1980s I believe.

Susan Hall, Landscape Architect, working with the Modera Team for this project. This is an aerial view that shows the distant location of the property along the Indian River. A little closer and you can see the single-family homes to the north, our proposed project in the middle, and the existing

condominiums to the south. This is a site plan that we put together that illustrates what we are proposing for landscape buffers, just conceptually. We are aware of our neighbor's concerns, the neighbors to the north and to the south. So, we have gone above and beyond with what we are proposing for our landscape and tree buffers. We have laid out the buffers using the County's Type-B buffer code requirements and we've gone, as said, above and beyond. We understand that neither the residents to the north or south, or the new property residents, really want to be looking at each other. We understand these buffers are important and play an important role, so we're proposing to increase the size of the buffers at the time of planting. Both in size and in quantity.

8-foot trees are required by code. We're proposing to put int trees that are installed at 14-18 ft. in height. 52 trees are required along the north property line alone and we're proposing to use 60. The hedge that we would use there along with ground covers, which are part of the way the code requirement is written, we are proposing to increase that hedge in size by 50%. This would also apply to the southeast corner of the site where you can see building 10 that's on the riverfront, opposite of the existing condominium structure that's to the south.

We've put together a slide, as an example, that shows the required sizes of the trees on the left of each set of three, the sizes we propose to install (which would be in the middle of the set) and what we could expect to see 5 years later. Generally speaking, we see trees increase in size about 2 ft. in height and 2.4 ft. In width per year, and some trees are even faster than that. So, this means that in 5 years from now, we should be seeing trees that are 24-28 ft. in height and around 12-14 ft. in width.

A very important point I'd like to make is that this site is fully vegetated, fully canopied, and it's important that we fit this site neatly into this property and provide ample landscape for the benefit of everybody. But because it's fully vegetated, it means that we will have a good amount of tree canopy mitigation to address and this means that at the end of landscaping on this site, we will have a heavily landscaped site following construction simply by the way the County's mitigation code is written.

I work with Natural Resources all the time and I know that they heavily prefer to have all the planting accomplished within a site and they really prefer not to have payout on trees. We're going to have a lot of trees on this property to accomplish that all.

Jake Wise, Civil Engineer for the project, 2651 W. Eau Gallie Blvd., Melbourne. This slide shows, in greater detail, what Susan was talking about. What you're seeing in the middle of the two sections is what we're proposing and how we've moved all the buildings to the center of the site. We're providing the best buffer that we can with a combination of extra planting, extra-large trees, and tree preservation. It's equally as important for our luxury apartment rental project to be able to buffer our neighbors as it is for them to want to be buffered from us. No offense at all, it's just what we would prefer for our project. To create our own little enclave just like the condominium to the south of us has done. We also proposed three stories because the condominiums to the south have of us are four stories in height and then we have seven or so single-family homes to the north of us. They have their road and then their lots. We have a little extra buffer too with a roadway there.

We did have a voluntary neighborhood meeting and on of the items that was talked about was Ruby Road to the north of us. Ruby Road does have some flooding issues, so part of our engineering effort will be to help alleviate some of those. Our project will provide on-site treatment and we won't have anything that runs off from it at all.

As you notice, our application is not asking for a Future Land Use Amendment at all. It's just strictly rezoning. We're utilizing the existing future land use amendment there. There is an old of cap of 6 (units per acre) on there back to the 1980s. I was in first grade and looked it up, Caddyshack was the biggest movie of the year, so it's been a little while. Viera wasn't even something people were thinking about. We're asking to eliminate that part of it, and we feel like the stairstep approach that we're proposing is a good transition of the height and the condensing of the buildings towards the middle of the site is good.

Mr. Wise also states that he's been driving by this site for decades and that little commercial corridor has never been very successful. The BU-1 zoning probably wouldn't have anything moving forward anytime in the near future.

We provided a traffic study and this section of US1 has a very high level of services and has a lot of trips available. We're not providing any deficiency on it at all, in fact it still is only about 64% capacity which is much, much better than most of the main corridors in Brevard County. With the PUD zoning that we're asking for, we have the option of doing alternative development standards with the option of asking for waivers we have the option of asking for a density bonus. We're not asking for any of those, none of those at all. We're just asking for the zoning. We do have a wetland area on site that we worked around and preserved; we're going to greatly enhance it. Right now, it's got invasives and it's uh not looking too good. We'll be improving it with a mix of replanting buffering it and keeping it enhanced with the water connection to it as well.

We do have an existing dock that's in disrepair, so we already talked to staff about working with a marine protection plan making sure we're in compliance with that to bring the dock back into compliance with being able to utilize it as they said for an asset to our project to be on the river. The way the PUD was created so you can create these types of unique and cohesive development plans. We have a lot of different amenities around the project plus the access to the river that we talked about previously. This developer, that we've worked with before, typically does their projects with low impact development standards. They try to get to a lead silver level. They are very proud of how they try to work within the environment that they're at. We also will work with staff to hit as many of the points with the green storm water infrastructure that we can. We know that's always a concern at the County level and for us as well being local. There's no endangered species that were found on the site, and we did do an environmental assessment of it. We have the wetlands and there could be a few gopher tortoises that we would have to relocate.

A final study would be done on that prior to construction starting. With that being said, I promise not to go through all the points. Staff has their future land use policies; 1.2, 1.4, 2.1. Admin policies three and four in the Natural Resource review. If you see all the different criteria; two, three, four, five of them for each of those, that we either comply with every single one of them or they're really not applicable to our site. We feel like our project is meeting all the criteria that we need and we're again just asking for our zoning to come in compliance with the existing future land use that's there today. With that being said, I don't know if the team wants to add anything else, but we do appreciate a chance to respond any public comments.

Mark Wadsworth stated while you're right there Mr. Wise before we go out to the audience, does anyone have a question?

Bruce Moia said that he just had one engineering question, have they done a traffic study and if so, what are the improvements that are being required or recommended? Do you know the specific improvements?

Landon Scheer, 2651 W. Eau Gallie Blvd., Melbourne. We did a preliminary TIA for the planning level study, there is a Northbound right deceleration lane and a southbound left deceleration lane that is proposed, or going to be proposed, with the project and incorporated when site planning.

Henry Minneboo stated that he has a couple of questions. He asked Jeffrey Ball "the item they talked about in 1980 was that six or four?

Jeffrey Ball said his recollection back in 1980, there was a land use plan which predated the 1988 comp plan, and that cap and density was at six units to the acre.

Henry Minneboo stated okay, because I think that was a Nancy Higgs favorite. You weren't even here, but that was that was well constructed back in 1980. Do you remember, Bruce? I'm trying to remember if it was four or six, it wasn't too many.

Bruce Moia said he doesn't remember much about what they what she did this. I remember she did a lot in South Mel Beach, but I don't know too much about what she did here.

Henry Minneboo asked Jake Wise how close is the old Alamo to this site? Do you know what I'm talking about, the old Alamo?

Jake Wise said the street north of us, one more development, and then the old Alamo was there.

Henry Minneboo asked if he said the Lancaster property, does that mean anything to you?

Jake Wise responded that it does not.

Members from the audience said that it IS the Lancaster property and Mark Wadsworth told them he would give them a chance to speak in a moment.

Henry Minneboo asked if the water on this site would come from where?

Jake Wise said the City of Cocoa has a 16-in. water main in the US1 right away and then Brevard County has a 6-in. force main.

Henry Minneboo asked does Brevard have the sewer there and Jake Wise responded that they do. Henry Minneboo asked do they have the capacity and Jake Wise responded yes and that we would be doing a private lift station that we would maintain.

Henry Minneboo: Is the address of this site Rockledge or what is it?

Jake Wise responded with yes, I think the mailing address is Rockledge.

Henry Minneboo stated it's not a trick question, how far are you from the City of Rockledge? The true city of Rockledge boundaries. Do you know?

Jake Wise said it's a little strange on US1. I think if you get up by Indian River Furniture you're hitting the Rockledge line, so that's a good distance from us.

Henry Minneboo asked to the best your recollection are there any or what's the closest proximity to this potential site that would be somewhat identical to that site?

Jake Wise responded that he would say the property to the south of us directly is four-story condos residential. If you go up and down this Corridor you see a mix of single family.

Henry Minneboo clarified that he's asking distance wise. How far is the site?

Jake Wise said the site to the south of us, hundreds of feet from, between building to building. Just north of the Alamo, another condominium project that we did probably about 15 years ago or so. That's pretty compatible and there's again a mix of single-family North and South in between those as well.

Henry Minneboo asked how long have these new owners owned this property?

Chris Burtner stated that Mr. Lancaster passed away about two years ago and I had spoken with Mr. Lancaster for several years. His nephew or his son-in-law, I can never remember the relationship, inherited the property. We are a contract purchaser, Mr. Mastroianni still owns the property, and we have a purchase contract to acquire the property.

Henry Minneboo stated/asked this is truly the Lancaster property.

Chris Burtner responded yes, it is. He also clarified that Jake Wise wouldn't know that because he's not in the contract negotiations.

Rob Sullivan asked to give him the rationale for removing the cap of six units per acre. Jake Wise said we're looking at the overall property because it's a mix of different land uses underneath it. Because it was back done all the way back in 1980, in order for us to be able to have a successful project with this type of luxury apartments and the maintenance and upkeep that goes with them, in order to be able to do a project like this we have to have enough units to make it so that it can be um maintained in the luxury manner that we want to.

Rob Sullivan said you mentioned that the property to the south of you is a also a condo. Do you know the number of units per acre for that?

Jake Wise responded that he doesn't know the number of units but typically in this area it's dictated by wetlands and things like that because Brevard County doesn't allow impact.

Rob Sullivan stated that It's actually dictated by the Coastal High Hazard Area and the exception for the commercial portion is not mapped as a Coastal High Hazard Area. I'm a consultant for FEMA and the reason is commercial doesn't have people living in it, so the cap is dictated by the Coastal High Hazard Area. That's been since 1996 not 1980.

Jake Wise said that a portion of our site is within the Coastal High Hazard Area and we do meet all the requirements.

Rob Sullivan said if you're going to change it to be residential then the whole element would be changed because coastal high-hazard areas are not for commercial, therefore residential.

Landon Scheer stated he thinks it's important to note here that this Coastal High Hazard is not the same Coastal High Hazard as defined by FEMA. This is a Coastal High Hazard as specifically defined by Brevard County. If you look at the FEMA map that's not a FEMA Coastal Hazard area.

Rob Sullivan responded that that is correct, I work in FEMA in 17 States. Local jurisdictions do have changes. If the entire surrounding area and the other properties are all capped at six units per acre, and I'm assuming that the majority of the people in the audience have that concern, why would Brevard County want to grant a specific element or a specific property to not have that cap when all the other properties, including the one to the South, complied with it?

Chris Burtner stated that he would just assume, and maybe incorrectly, that you would want to unify the zoning layer and the comprehensive plan layer that's been adopted by the County Commission and that's really what we're proposing to do. There is an adopted comprehensive plan that was put in place in the 80s, I'm not sure. Jake maybe you know or maybe our land use council, Jason, knows when the comprehensive plan was adopted but I think it was adopted post 1980 so again really, we are just trying to marry up what's allowed for this the County's comprehensive plan and the zoning layer is really the request.

Rob Sullivan said he's looking at a 2023 Florida Statute, Coastal Management, and in here it says under Section B "for local governments that have not established a level of service for out of county hurricane evacuation by following the process in Paragraph A, the level of service shall be no greater than 16 hours for a category 5 storm event as measured by the Saffir-Simpson Scale." Currently the Eastern Florida Central Regional Planning Council has a Category 5 hurricane at 56 hours. Now, I don't know about you, but I've spent 30 years doing urban search and rescue and nobody gives you 56 hours' worth of notification for a CAT 5. You're lucky to get 16 hours for a CAT 3. What we're looking at is; 1.) I have some problems with evacuation, and 2.) I have a problem with the cap of the density. US1 is an evacuation Zone and it it's not going to be just local people using US1. If I-95, as in the case of previous hurricanes, is clogged, then the secondary route will be US1, So I do have some heartburn with increasing the density. Particularly in areas of the Coastal High Hazard area as defined by Brevard County but also by FEMA. Thank you.

Jake Wise stated that our current zoning and land use allow for 157 multi-family units so we're not asking for a significant increase. We're just asking for that old cap 6 to be removed, that was again done in 1980.

Rob Sullivan said if you do the math for the area just reduce it back down to the cap for six units per acre, that could be a very viable option. You'd probably get rid of half or 90% of the objections that you're about to hear.

Mark Wadsworth asked the Board if they had any more questions for the applicant.

John Hopengarten said he has a question for staff. Mr. Ball, I always understood that a PUD was for mixed use this is a single use development. How does that play with the PUDs.

Jeffrey Ball said it can be. A PUD is a flexible zoning category or district where the applicant can come in and design their zoning code to meet the product type that they want to build. It allows for flexibility to the setbacks. In that respect, it's a zoning district that the applicant has the ability to design on its own.

John Hopengarten responded by asking if that sets a precedent. People could come in and make everything a PUD just to do a single use development. I always thought it was mixed use; industrial, commercial, retail, not just residential on its own as an apartment project.

Jeffrey Ball said it can be mixed use, it can also be one single use as residential, there's no restrictions either way.

John Hopengarten replied that he didn't see where it stipulated that it could be a single use, that's why I was asking the question.

Jeffrey Ball said in our code we do have an RPUD which is strictly for residential.

Brian Hodgers asked in order for this to be profitable, which is what we see all the time coming through here, they have to have a certain number of units. It's currently got 157 that they can use which that's not enough for them but that's given us a little over 10 units per acre. So, at 252 units it's working out to be about 16 units per acre.

Jeffrey Ball said that the way staff calculated it, it's about 17 units per acre overall. Brian Hodgers asked is there any other category other than going to a PUD that they could use to get the units per acre that they need, because this seems like a large jump?

Jeffrey Ball responded that he doesn't want to go off the cuff and tell you what would work and what wouldn't. There are some zoning districts, I should say standard zoning district that are comparable to the RES 15. We'd have to look at it with the cap of six. I don't know off the top of what that would what that would be, and I don't want to give the board a false sense of direction.

Bruce Moia asked a follow up question to that, stating he just wants to make sure he understands that too. The only way they can get the density bonus that they want is to go with PUD?

Jeffrey Ball responded that just to be clear, it's not a density bonus.

Bruce Moia asked what is it?

Jeffrey Ball said they're allowed to shift their units but overall, they have two land use categories. They have the CC and RES 15 with the zoning because this is a little bit wonky. Prior to 1988 there was no FLU Designation so in this instance the Board decided the cap the density with the zoning in this instance it's res 10 or r210 with a cap of six so normally without that cap you would be able to do 10 units to the acre.

Bruce Moia responded correct but just looking at it with the land use, the density they've requested they're getting 17 units to the acre because the Community Commercial gives them 30 units the acre on that part and combined with the 15 they can get 17?

Jeffrey Ball responded that is correct.

Bruce Moia said he just wanted to make sure. Really, it's not the PUD that's getting them there, it's the Community Commercial? Jeffrey Ball responded yes, that's correct, and Bruce Moia stated he just wanted to make sure he had that straight.

Jake Wise added to the Board that we could apply for bonus density, but we are not at all.

Bruce Moia responded that he understands, that's what I wanted to make sure you're not and I thought that's why you chose the PUD. I thought that was what was getting you the additional units but that's not at all. I want to make sure I understood that.

Jake Wise added if you look at the staff report, the second page, it identifies the County's comprehensive plan shall be the guidance for consideration when considering the appropriate zoning district to rezone a property to moving towards consistency with the future land use. That's what we're doing.

Henry Minneboo asked if that was 1980 and Jake Wise responded yes, 1980.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Mark Wadsworth asked the members of the audience if they were able to select three people to speak on their behalf. They responded that it may be more than three if those three don't cover everything they'd like to discuss.

Mark Wadsworth asked if 15 minutes per person would be sufficient, and they responded that they may only need a few minutes per person.

Mark Wadsworth asked if there are any other questions from staff or I'm going to take it to the audience.

Jeffrey Ball stated that before she comes up and speaks, I wanted to clarify for the Board that the existing land use and Zoning is consistent. If you look at the consistency table in 62-1255, the commercial component of CC is consistent with BU-1 and the RES 15 component is consistent with the RU-2-10.

Mark Wadsworth asked the speaker if three minutes would be enough time, because at the end of the timer, they'll have to move to the next speaker.

Pam Higgins, 100 Ruby Street, Rockledge, which is abutting next to this property. First, I wanted to thank you all for letting us air our concerns. We appreciate you all as volunteers and we really appreciate the questioning that you're taking and that you're taking this seriously, because this is very important to all of our communities along this area. I'm speaking now, since we met out in the hallway, for at least four communities. North of us is called Pisces Area, that's one; we're Ruby Street; we have this property that we're talking about; then we have Laguna Vista; and then we have Indian River Isles North and all of us are represented here. I wanted to thank everyone that came and we're wearing black so you can kind of see where we are and showing solidarity for uh our togetherness in wanting to oppose this action of PUD. I also wanted to note that this process is new to most of us, in particular me, and we're starting behind the eight-ball. This language of comprehensive plans and Coastal High Hazard Areas, and all sorts of land use and future land use and using the maps and all that, we've had to learn on our own for the last month while we've been involved in this. Of course, the developer has been looking at it for months and months and has had input from the staff, which we have not had, so we're coming to you from behind and we're also looking to you to be The Gatekeepers. To really look at this and see all of it. We've learned also that your recommendation to the County Commissioners is very important to them and what you say will have a huge impact on their mindset. Therefore, you are very important to us.

What I wanted to speak primarily about has to do with PUD zoning, and although the staff considers one to three units of rental property a varied amount of home options, seems very wrong. According to the Brevard County's Code of Ordinances, Chapter 62, Section IV, Subsection 62-1442(3) says it's the purpose and intent and objective is the creation of a variety of housing types and compatible neighborhood arrangements that give the home buyer, not rental, the home buyer greater choice in selecting types of environments and living units. That's right from the code. There are no home buyers in this situation, it's all rental units. We feel that this use of PUD zoning is wrong. That they couldn't get this property and put this unit on it this plan without going to PUD. They could not do it. They can't use what it's currently zoned at, and you all know that. Common sense alone tells you that how you have to manipulate yourself and to try to understand how they get to the density levels is mindboggling, and that alone tells me that something nothing's wrong here. This is not the appropriate use of PUD. In this proposal there's just one out of state owner who would be given the concessions of relaxed density in order to make this plan. Also wanting to point out that this plan is going to be a business, this is going to be rental units, all rental units, and it's going to be to my mind multi-family commercial real estate. It's now going to be put on residentially zoned property and doesn't seem appropriate at all for this plan. That is a big thing. The other point is multi-family rental,

again, is a business. It's a business proposition that they're going to be making money off of. We understand that this whole property could be sold off. We don't know the next owner; they all say they're all really good and nice and wonderful but from another state and we don't know what that looks like for us. There are many issues we have with the concerns of this applicant, and you all have at least 11 letters in your package from our people, there's probably more. We have more than that, you have more than that. I was able to pull off from the website only 11. Some of us, I don't know if they didn't make it in what happened, but maybe you've got them.

We're very concerned about it, but you can, within those letters, read all that you don't want to hear us talk about over and over again. So, from that I just want you to understand that our focus is that the Planned Unit Develop is not an appropriate measure or way to approach this. The other point that I want to make is that PUD, this would be the first PUD in our corridor from Barnes Boulevard down to the Pineda Causeway there are no other PUDs. None. There are no other units of this high density, no other properties with RES 30 or even RES 15 built out along that corridor and that is huge because it really changes the density from capped at 6 or EU to this huge 17.2 average, and the ask is a lot. They're asking for so much and on basically our community's backs. I haven't covered everything I'm sure, but others as will. One other thing that I did want to point out is that if we could look at the layout again, the top down, could we look somehow look at it? They say there's 160 ft. between our homes and the next building but what they don't tell you is that the parking areas and the garages are right there. They're literally maybe 10 ft. from our properties in, so although they say, "oh we moved everything to the middle," they haven't. They have 500 spaces there, so I wanted to point that out. Plus, also within that area there are other protected species. There's Bobcats and we have alligators, we have other things and there's a little pond which we all love, that they are going to fill in.

Mark Wadsworth stated he was very nice and extended your time.

Ms. Higgins said she was done.

Mark Wadsworth asked the next speaker how much time are you wanting, 37 minutes or three?

Speaker: I'll try to keep it short; she covered a lot of things, so I won't.

Mark Wadsworth said that the reason is we don't want to hear understood about the alligators again please. With all due respect to everybody, the applicant, and the neighborhood, you know the County, thank goodness for our staff, makes these guys jump through hoops. They're not going to just allow something to come in here if it isn't contiguous with the surrounding zonings. Planning and engineering. We have engineers on this board, we got guys with FEMA on this board, we've got actually a very good board. A very knowledgeable board, but how many how many minutes would you like?

Speaker: I'll try to keep it under three and Mark Wadsworth said they're going to give him five and I'm going to have to cut you off at five.

Rob Solito, 6005 US Highway 1, Rockledge, which is the Laguna Vista condos to the south of this project. I appreciate all of you being here and some of you probably know that I'm a commercial real

estate broker. I have always been relatively pro-development and some of you also probably know that a handful of years ago I sat on this board, so I understand what you guys are looking at and I appreciate that you're giving me a little extra time. I won't go into some of the things I was going to read, Pam covered a lot of the things there. So, a couple of things that I wanted to just clarify when we talked about, or the developer talked about the condo building right next door being four stories and so therefore their three-story apartment complex shouldn't be a big deal, the difference is density. We are on 4 ½ acres, we have 24 units, our density is 5.3. It's a huge difference. While we do have a four-story building, it's well buffered in all directions. The density is under the cap of six, the development to the south of us, he's got a site plan approval for 11-unit, two building complex. Again, staying under the density of six. So, following the trajectory that we've used for a long time in this area, the density going from a cap of 6 to 17+ it just seems untenable to all of us, which is why we're all here today. There are a couple other things that I'll say. Pam did mention there are no similar developments, or densities frankly, between Barnes and Pineda. There is a condo, our condo complex, there's another condo complex a little bit to the North, and then there's the large town home complex at the corner of US1 and Viera Boulevard. It's very big, I looked it up and I did some calculation. They are single story mostly and a couple two-story town homes. They are under the density cap of six and there's over 100 units there, but they have 35 Acres. So again, while it's a big complex they are staying with that density cap.

There's another couple of points about the PUD designation, which Pam didn't mention, that specifically states that a PUD must, must, meet significant open areas and natural preservation. This does not do that, it has one section in the center of wetlands and develops the rest... must take advantage of the natural features of the land, (that's questionable, they're going to add some trees but they're going to essentially fill the entire piece of land with buildings and parking), three: must create a variety of housing types. Specifically says that in the PUD designation, must. Now, one, two, and three-bedroom apartments are not different types of housing. There are no condos, there's no townhomes, there's no single-family residences. And number four, it must have an inclusion of compatible associated uses, must. It does not do that. Having a clubhouse and a pool is not an associated use in my opinion. So, one of the other main points that I wanted to make is that the preliminary development plan needs to be evaluated with the context of section 62-1448 in the zoning code, which says, and I quote "the degree of departure of the proposed Planned Unit Development from surrounding residential areas in terms of character and density." This is a high degree of departure in terms of density. I mean, a cap of 6 to a cap of 17 or 18... it's unbelievable that they would even ask for it honestly. There are a few administrative policies also that I know the staff has worked with the developer on but there's a few that they don't meet and one of them is Policy Six.

There's several more that are in the letters but Policy Six says that the proposed application must be consistent with all written land use development policies, all. Clearly, they've not met all of them, they've not met most of them and they don't meet the definition of a PUD. Which very clearly says they will have a full range of residential types as well as industrial, commercial, institutional land uses. All those things are part of a PUD. With that I'll will gladly answer any questions, but I got you with four seconds left.

Kevin Fox, 6398 Anchor Lane, Rockledge, I'm here to represent 52 property owners. I'm the president of the Indian River Isles Property Owners Association Board. Primarily, I first start out that I only

moved here in 2002, and I remember coming over to this complex with the County Commissioners. They brought up this exact issue, looking forward to the future of how they would develop the lands and at that time I remember them discussing, and voting on, and supporting the six units per acre. Everybody's using this 1980, 1996... with all due respect when you call Planning and Zoning, and you try to get the minutes for the County Commissioners,' trying to find so I could bring some actual facts to show you, it's next to impossible to find it unless you're a system expert. I'm not that, I'm primarily just up here to speak on the neighborhood to say I don't think it fits in with the plan. The plan was six units, I don't know where this 15 comes from, but my belief is the County Commissioners voted to support the six. All the other developers along the US1 from Barnes down to Pineda Causeway have all lived by that rule. These people are just asking for an exemption to that. Well, if you give it to them the next neighborhood south of that, south of Laguna Vista, just north of our neighborhood in Indian River Isles North, there's approximately I think 14 acres. They're zoned exactly the same way, business and residential. So, with all the respect, I foresee them going in and putting 252 apartments in there. Why would they not? If you're going to grant that, it's just going to be a snowball rolling downhill and we're going to develop in that. Is that what we want?

I'm not against developing, I fully support them, to let to develop the land as much as they want under the six dwelling units per acre. That's primarily all I wanted to speak up about. I don't believe it really complies with the PUD as a neighborhood when we talk about it. A PUD to me is the Avenue(s), you go up there and you have apartments, you have condos. There's houses, there's shopping, movie theaters, and all that. That to me is a PUD. Maybe I'm an uneducated individual who doesn't understand all the nuances of these rules. Sometimes I think these rules are written so that you can tell the public as myself one thing, but then you can do something totally the opposite go well you know there's a little hedge over here you can do that, it's a gray area and I would ask that the board as a whole would think about if you were the neighbor living right next to it on Ruby Street, Laguna Vista, the neighborhood to the south Indian River Isles North. What would you want if you were living there, if it was your next-door neighbor. If you were in our shoes right now, what would you ask the Board? That's pretty much all I have unless you have any questions for me.

Rebecca Hatch, I am a resident at 110 Kieran Lane, Rockledge, representing the six members complying with the density cap on our property. I think we have six total acres, but again seconding what our neighbors are saying there. Thank you all for letting us have this opportunity today, I'm forever thankful. I really love development as well, however, the one component that I have not heard anyone address is something that is super important here in Brevard County. SORL, Save Our Indian River Lagoon, and while we have some beautiful pictures of landscaping that are going to be on there, I didn't see any native species. I don't see any nutrient reduction, and it is my understanding that there is some recent Florida legislation that will be coming down that does require that to be done for any storm water that is emptying into the Indian River Lagoon. So, I would ask you to consider the Indian River Lagoon and the impact that this project would have on that.

Robert Taylor, 160 Ruby Street, Rockledge, I'm not abiding by the agreement that we only send up three, but I'll be very brief. I had one point to make and that is let's just talk about apartments for about one minute. Everybody else you know from the other side; they brought in all their development articles. I brought mine. It's printed on the back of your notes, this is all the apartments on Highway 1, as we mentioned, between Rockledge and Pineda Causeway. This is how many there are. So, 240

apartments, you're out apartment shopping, what are you looking for? I lived in an apartment once. You expect it to be in a dense area you'd be able to walk out across the street to Walgreens and get a candy bar. A lot of Apartments have kids, they don't have their own yard. They need somewhere to play. Where do the kids in an apartment play? A lot of times on the street and around. If you play in the street and you're on Highway 1, there's no sidewalk. You can't ride your bike from this apartment complex anywhere on the planet. You would have to ride your bike on Highway 1 and even my 20-year-old kids are not willing to do that. In the same way, there's no McDonald's; there's no grocery store. This is essentially the last little bit of a rural community in between other cities that developed and there's no resources there.

We used to have a wonderful restaurant, as you mentioned the Alamo. It's gone commercial, it's not thriving along this quarter because people don't want to be there shopping for things like this. You can make a decision and say yeah let's put enough people into that spot and make them walk around and let's create commercial, but you would be doing something completely new, apartments. I don't believe this is where they belong. You don't find apartments on top of a mountain all by themselves in the woods, I don't think apartments belong here period.

RP Higgins, 100 Ruby Street, Rockledge. I've been a resident for 28 years, it's a fine community, I wanted to let you know that. I want to thank you all for the opportunity to speak. Wanted to address a couple issues that Mr. Minneboo and Mr. Sullivan brought up that I thought were apropos. What do we do in case of a hurricane? So, we got 252 residents who are looking to get out of town. The good thing we have a neighborhood, and we all help each other. Sorry, I don't think that's going to happen with this new development. I don't see it happening and it's part of the charm of living in this part of Florida. I think our way of life is going to be altered immeasurably. The second thing I wanted to address is in 2016 Brevard County passed a resolution to add a half cent sales tax for cleaning up the Indian River, and it was addressed earlier but this development flies in the face, now you're going to hear a lot of technical stuff I'm sure about how they're handling run off, we're going to have almost 4 acres of asphalt put in to cover 500 parking spaces. What's going to happen to that, that's going to go directly in the river. Okay, they're going to have lift stations and this and that and the other thing, what invariably with the vegetation it's going to get clogged, who's going to clean it up? You going to pick up the phone and call somebody? No, it's going to go in. I mean because it's an apartment, and apartment owners don't care. They don't have any skin in the game, this is what we're going to miss. Anyway, I want to thank you all again for the time. I appreciate it.

Stephanie Bacon 6167 Anchor Lane, Rockledge, Florida. Proud member of the Indian River Isles Community. I too, served on a homeowner's board or Property Owners board for close to 13 years, so I really respect all your time here today and thank you for that. I'm all about the kids right now. School buses do not stop on US1, for a very good reason. We're over 55 miles an hour there, they pull into each development and pick up our children. I would suspect that 252 homes would also generate many children, so just something for you to consider. I'm sure there's a plan for something like that but thank you very much.

Mark Wadsworth asked if there was anyone else who wanted to speak for or against this item. With no other public comment, he closed to the floor and took it back to the applicant.

End Public Comment

Chris Burtner said he just wanted to make one quick comment before Jason Searl talks about some of the legality around the PUD and the comp plan and Jake Wise addresses some of the more ticky-tacky comments that were made. It was the comment of apartment developers don't care and don't have skin in the game. Candidly speaking, we do care. I personally care. This is a piece of property that I've pursued for several years now, my colleagues in the office tell me that it's a passion project. And it is a passion project. I'm from here, this is a great piece of property. My parents live seven minutes down the road, and we have a lot of skin in the game. A lot of time we invest, a lot of money and because we think that we better the community and we create homes for people. So, I'll let Jason address some of the more legal related questions, but I just wanted to clarify that.

Jason Searl, Gray-Robinson of 1795 W. Nasa Blvd., Melbourne stated I've tried to summarize just three big points and then I'll turn over to our project engineer Mr. Wise for any comments regarding some of the details in response to the public comment. The three things that I want to touch on are the notion that the PUD is the basis for our density here, we believe that to be incorrect. It's based upon the comp plan. I'll touch on that first. Second, why a PUD and why it's Justified here, and then some of the compatibility matters.

First, just when we're looking at the comprehensive plan the very first administrative policy that we have, number one says that our zoning official, our planners, and the directors at the County Staff level are our experts when it comes to reviewing and determining appropriateness of zoning, conditional uses, special exceptions, things like the like today. Staff is where we defer and where we look to for guidance, so what did they do after we made application? They prepared a staff report and on page two of the staff report states that the notion that the PUD rezoning is the basis for our requested density is not correct. It's actually based upon a Comprehensive Plan Policy 2.10, and this was something that we had worked with staff on and the County Attorney's Office prior to our application. After we had our first very first pre-application meeting there's a policy in the County's comprehensive plan that says that residential development is permissible in certain commercial land use designations at density of up to one category higher than the closest residential designated area on the future land use map which is on the same side of the street. As you can see at the end of that paragraph, where I have the arrow, the next highest density is RES 30. We are using that, and not this PUD rezoning as the basis for our density. In fact, as Mr. Wise touched on in his presentation, we are not seeking any comp plan amendment. Just to finish that point before I go to number two, the next page, page three of our staff report says if we were to apply the RES 30, not 15, we could do up to the 288 or the 19.46 as staff (the resident experts) have cited in their staff report, the number we're requesting is less than the potential maximum. The PUD is not the basis for the zoning, the comp plan and the policy that we reference 2.10, as confirmed by staff, is what we're basing for our density. That's number one.

Number two, why a PUD? Before we made an application, we requested and received a zoning verification letter. At the bottom of the first paragraph, it stated that we have inconsistent zonings. As Mr. Wise talked about in his presentation, the smaller part of the property has a commercial zoning, and the larger part has a residential zoning. That's highlighted there at the last sentence; "not consistent with the Future Land Use. So, why a PUD? We are doing a PUD so that we can uniform the

entirety of the property through one zoning and allow it to be developed in a way that creates an asset for the property owner its rental residents, as well as the surrounding community and the county. This is discussed on page four of the staff report. You'll see some catch words like ingenuity, imagination, flexibility. If you're trying to uniform a property, bring it out of incompliance, you need to use all those adjectives, and that's what we're doing here.

Compatibility, last point and then happy to turn it over to Mr. Wise for anything in the weeds. I think it was the first speaker that said we're coming from behind on this application and I would respectfully disagree. We, applicant, at our own volition/voluntarily had (and many attended) a community meeting on March 26th where we shared these plans. We received input and we in fact modified things like buffers and access and some of the on-site considerations in response to that. So, just a quick little point there as I pass that all my way to compatibility.

Last point, staff report. Compatibility, there's a whole section of it. I want to say it's bottom of page nine and going over to page 10, there's four outlined criteria from an administrative policy, Policy 3 from the County's Comprehensive Plan. When we're talking about compatibility, this is just not us saying what's compatible, this is what's outlined as the criteria by the County in its own comp plan. The first one here whether on the bottom of page 9, the first of four criteria is whether our uses of the PUD will have traffic or other activity that that would significantly diminish the enjoyment, or safety, or quality of the existing neighborhoods, those that are represented here today... The answer to that was no it does not. Top of page 10, you can read it, it's right there. B and C, I want to skip over and I want to go to D, whether the proposed uses result in material violation of the relevant policies and the comp plan. The answer to that at the top of page 11 was no it does not. No material violation. B is a property value consideration. Staff said we have to have an appraisal to do that, and we can't do that because we don't have the use to the appraisal. We have materials based upon our experience in the market that would argue, and I've seen it, I've heard of expert testimony from others and other zoning cases that have said that new development actually increases property values in the surrounding area. We'd be happy to present that evidence.

Chris Burtner added just quickly to Jason's point right there, there have been published several research papers at the University level that speak to property values and development nearby. I think the first to point out, and unfortunately none of these were specific studies done for Brevard County, they were done at universities around the United States, but the first was highlighted by the Urban Land Institute in Nashville. The quote being "well-placed apartments with attractive design and landscaping actually increase the overall value of detached houses nearby. The value of single-family houses within 300 feet of an apartment or condominium building went up 2.9% a year, slightly higher than the 2.7% rate for single-family homes without multi-family properties nearby." That was by the Urban Land Institute. Another study by a senior research fellow at the Ken Gardner Policy Institute at the University of Utah, "the impact of higher density apartments on surrounding single-family home values in Suburban Salt Lake County; this study found apartments built between 2010 and 2018 have not reduced single-family home values in Suburban Salt Lake County. Between 2010 and 2019, homes located within a ½ mile of a newly constructed apartment building experienced a 10% average annual increase in medium value, while the value of those farther away increased by 8.6%. Only in the southeast part of the county did homes more than a ½ mile away from the new apartment construction experience higher average price appreciation than those located less than a half a mile

away. One other study, a summary was conducted by the Delaware Valley Regional Planning Commission of Multi-Family Housing Impact Literature Review. The last one being the Smart Growth and the Challenge of Multi-Family Dwellings and Their Association with Single-Family Housing Selling Prices in Tallahassee, Florida. It was created in 2013 By Houston Gibson and Matthew Beaker of Kansas State University. The punchline was the study found that single-family homes within 300 feet of multi-family housing experienced no negative impact in property values. In many cases the authors observed that single-family homes near multi-family housing often witness an increase in property values compared to single family homes not adjacent to high density development.

Jason Searl stated that was B, we've done A, B, and D. Coming back to C, C essentially says that there has not been enough data within the preceding three-year period. I would argue that compatibility is established through this being a transition area from the existing four-story, or taller, condos to the south and the lower single-family residences to the to the north. Your compatibility is created through the transition area that we're creating through the PUD. I really thought that those were the essence of the various speaker comments, but I'd be happy to answer any questions. I also want to make sure that Mr. Wise or Ms. Hall have a chance to talk about any site-specific items that were mentioned by any of the four or five public speakers. With that, I have nothing further.

Mark Wadsworth asked the Board if they have any questions for Mr. Searl.

Robert Sullivan stated the properties you're talking about compatibility between properties to the south and properties to the north, the one thing they all share is a cap of six units per acre. So, how would you be compatible with that?

Jason Searl said we have the Future Land Use Designation today.

Robert Sullivan responded with that's a Future Land Use, the existing land use right now. You've got a lot of people over here that are very, very insistent that between Rockledge Drive and Pineda Cswy., there are no PUDs, and there are no apartment complexes. So, we're looking at compatibility with the adjacent properties, and I'm bringing up that they are compatible because there are six units per acre.

Chris Burtner noted on the cap he would say, and I apologize I don't have the Comprehensive Plan Map memorized, but I do believe that they share the same Comprehensive Plan Designation as our site. Jake, Landon does that sound correct? I think the RES 15 and the CC runs up and down this corridor. While maybe today they have the six units per acre cap, there is nothing stopping a guy like me coming here in a month or two and making the same application on that adjacent property, right? So, I would argue that we can get to even further consistency because they have the same density basically allowed as of right that we have today.

Jake Wise stated that he was just taking notes from some of the speakers, so I'll just run through what I had written down. Something some said, we do have one local owner who does have a lot of skin in the game as he put it. They're not trying to do a project flip it and move on. They're looking for long-term residents for this area. Back in 1980, could you imagine the number of apartments that we have in this area today? Nobody could imagine what was coming right now, what we're seeing a demand for them like we've never seen before. Look at all the apartment projects in Vieira and all

across, especially Southern Brevard County, and you can't even drive up and down 528 or any of the other corridors and not see them coming up everywhere. That is what is in demand today, that is the market, and we're providing a needed product for the area. It's always dangerous to start comparing projects to projects, but very briefly, Laguna to the south of us, a lot of that property is in wetlands conservation easement. They probably went four stories because they had a limited amount of up to probably get their height when that project was developed. Again, a million other factors of development but those are the major ones. The PUD, it does identify a variety of products but that's for PUDs all over the County. There's numerous PUDs across Brevard County that have single-family types of uses or one type of residential use. If the property was bigger, it would probably have more, but we're limited on the size of the property. We do meet, and it's written in the staff report, the open space and preservation criteria. We do provide a lot of amenities. We have a mile trail around the property. Pool, sport courts, all kinds of things like that. This is a luxury product and we're providing those types of uses for it. The staff report, again, identifies that we are in compliance with it and I didn't even mention the access to the river. Speaking of the nutrient removal, I heard somebody say the historical use of this site is a nursery and a tree farm. That's about the worst possible use to put next to a river with fertilizers and all the things that directly run off straight to the river. We're taking that all back, we're going to meet all the BMP and exceed all the criteria of the St. John's, the nutrient removals, about 96% to 98%. That means 96 to 98% of any of the nutrients will be kept on site and treated and not go into the river. It is a significant Improvement to the Indian River Lagoon System with what we're proposing to do. That's the criteria that we meet today, because of the concerns of course that we all have that live in this area.

Plantings, native plantings only. That's all we'll do. We'll remove every invasive. The site is overwhelmed with invasive. The wetlands are a mess, we're going to improve them and fix them. Buffer them and enhance them significantly. That's all part of our project, it's a great enhancement to our project to have the preserved wetlands. To have the access and the visibility to them, same with the preservation of the native plantings around the entire perimeter to help buffer, plus what we're planting to protect the Indian River. Storm water treatment, I mentioned earlier we will do the nutrient removal and provide all the criteria. Because we're on US1, we meet much more stringent requirements than Brevard County requires. We run 48 storm events that we design. Not just one or two that the State and the County have us do. You heard Mr. Searl go through and identify how the staff report, one after another, how we meet all the criteria that applies to our project up and down our application. US1 it's, again, one of the best corridors in this entire County. It's only at 65% capacity. Almost every project I do in a major corridor, they're already passed their level of service and don't have capacity. This area does have capacity for roads.

Yes, we could have more units. We didn't ask for the max, we put in what we thought was compatible with this site, with our neighbors. Height, density, there are other multi-family projects in the area. You've got a Laguna to the South, you've got other condos to the north. Those are multi-family, multiple story developments. They are compatible as well, and again, our application is just a change in zoning. That's all we're asking for this Board's consideration, and with that appreciate a chance to respond if you guys have any questions.

Chris Burtner just wanted to say thank you, I appreciate the Board's time and consideration today. We appreciate y'all. Again, our company really focuses on building kind of best-in-class luxury market rate

rental products. We think that it's suitable and appropriate for this site and we're excited about doing business in Brevard County.

Jeffrey Ball clarified for the Board some comments that Mr. Searl explained about the zoning verification letter that was on the property. As the property stands today, there are two land use designations and there's two zoning classifications. It has Community Commercial along the front and RES 15 behind that. It also has BU-1 zoning and RU-2-10 zoning. Both of those zoning classifications are consistent with its respective land use category. I want to make sure that that's put on the record because there's some confusion with the zoning verification letter. Respectively with the land use and Zoning, those land uses and zonings are consistent with each other.

Mark Wadsworth asked Chris Burtner back up to the podium and stated that they've heard Robert Sullivan talking about the men and women in black in here, is there something in the middle? Because I know you're looking at 17 per acre, approximately 17.02 to be exact. There's a cap of six, we're 11 apart.

Chris Burtner responded with, candidly sir, I felt like our initial proffer of 252 units was closer to the middle or was at the middle. Again, as the staff report identified, I think we could build up to 282 apartments. We are already offering to do less than technically what is permitted. So no, I appreciate the request but again, I think we've proffered an attractive site plan at a home count that does a good job of buffering from the four-story building to the South and the single-family homes to the north. We've provided very sufficient and substantial setbacks from our primary structures from the property line. I think the site plan that we've proffered and put before y'all is a fair representation of an attractive community that will be successful in the area.

Bruce Moia stated that first I want to thank all the residents for coming out and allowing us to trim down the comments. I thought you guys did a great job; I think you covered all the hot button points. I don't think you left anything out. It was very complete; I appreciate you guys agreeing to have some unified voices on that end. This property definitely needs to be developed, no doubt about it. Is this the development that needs to go there? I'll get to that later, but I agreed with a lot of the things you guys said though I didn't agree with everything. I did want to make a point that Jake was very true that developing this property will be better for the Indian River Lagoon than the way it sits right now. It's a shame that the only development on this side of the road for quite a way is that condominium project that has its own storm water system. All the residents on that side drain directly into the Lagoon and that's a problem we've had since I've been here in the early 1960s. Those older houses that drain directly into the lagoon are part of what I consider the main problem that we see today. You've got a great development team. You've got the best landscape architect in the County; you've got the second-best engineer in the County.

As long as I've been doing this I have never seen, I don't care what you say Jake, I've never seen a PUD with one use. Never, and it's never been an apartment complex. We've done a lot of PUDs and we've done a lot of apartment complexes and I've never seen a PUD apartment complex, so that's a first for me. The second thing is, and I have to be consistent, is transitional zoning. I don't agree that if we have development at six units per acre or less, that we should have a spike in the middle of that for one piece of property. So, I think this property, the request for the density, to me is too extreme. It's not compatible with what's to the north and south or even in the area in general. Even though the

land use supports it, it was down zoned for a reason. The zoning capped it at six. It is in a Coastal High Hazard Area, is right on the river. I don't like the fact that you're doing a PUD that you don't have to plat so you don't have to do a 15-ft. perimeter buffer. You're doing landscaping in the landscape buffer including the 15-ft preservation buffer that's required by the County. I think it's asking too much in my opinion and it's strictly because of transitional zoning, that I've said time and time again. I cannot support the request.

Debbie Thomas said I would also like to thank you for coming out and taking your time and making the effort to come out here and all of you uniting and deciding to have just a few speakers come up and talk to us and not us have to sit here for hours listening to the same thing over and over again. I really appreciate that and thank you to the woman who came up first you really educated yourself. There is a lot of different acronyms that go along with everything that with P&Z and you went ahead and you really made sure you understood it and you understood it correctly. So, thank you I appreciate that.

I think I agree at this point, the amount of units that are being requested and being asked for, I believe is not appropriate for this land use. It's just not compatible and there is a slippery slope that's going to come in where that's concerned. There is other land around the area, and once again, as much as we need apartments, as much as there are really great people that live in apartments that absolutely respect the area, respect the land, respect everything, there are just as many that do not. They don't have an ownership to that piece of land. The same ownership that you have as an owner, so I would agree that I don't feel like this is compatible.

Henry Minneboo stated there's times when you've been around a long time that there's advantages and disadvantages. If in defense of the staff, had they known what we went through in 1980 and the debate, the constant debate that was associated with these six units to the acre on the river, etc. there wouldn't really be a discussion today because that was ironclad and unfortunately a lot of the staff was not here. Unfortunately, I was here, so I got to have the opportunity to go through many of those discussions both on record and off record. It's such a great area in my opinion, it doesn't need any more changes to do anything more in that area. I knew Bob Lancaster, probably better than the applicant, but you know that whole thing was never designed for a greater area than six units and six is almost too many, but that's what it's fully designed for, that's what everybody's maintained, and I don't think we ought to change anything. By no means could I support what has been presented today.

Ron Bartcher stated that he enjoyed listening to all the people, and by the way thank you for coming out. The point that I would make is you did a great organization and continue that when you go to the County Commission. They're the ones that are going to make the decision, they're the ones that you've got to impress you impressed us.

When I was making notes, I was looking at the drawing that they had what their preliminary plan was, I said rainwater runoff is going to be a big problem with all that concrete and asphalt. Those large buildings, I mean where's all the water going to go? I see two ponds and I suspect they're going to be full all the time, and probably overflowing. That just seems to me a real problem. I just don't like that idea. Another comment is these are luxury apartments and what we really need is affordable housing,

not luxury housing. We have a problem with have not having enough housing but it's not more luxury housing we need, we need affordable stuff. Density increases of three times, that just seems to be outrageous. Wetlands are going to be covered up, I look at the layout where the buildings are. Buildings 1, 2, 3, 4, and 8 are partially in Flood Plains and also in coastal high-hazard areas. That's a significant problem, I just cannot support that. I would make a motion that recommend denial of this zoning change.

Motion to deny rezoning from BU-1 and RU-2-10(6) to PUD by Ron Bartcher, seconded by Robert Sullivan. The vote was unanimous.

Jeffrey Ball added: Mr. Chair, just for the for the audience, this will be heard at the July 11th Board of County Commissioners meeting.